Registration number: 00775505

Tilia Homes Limited

Annual Report and Financial Statements

for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

#### Contents

| Company Information  | 1  |
|--|----|
| Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022                           | 2  |
| Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022                          | 10 |
| Corporate Governance Section 172 Statement for the Year ended 30 June 2022 | 14 |
| Statement of Directors' Responsibilities                                   | 15 |
| Independent auditors' report to the members of Tilia Homes Limited         | 16 |
| Income Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2022                           | 20 |
| Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 30 June 2022          | 21 |
| Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022                         | 22 |
| Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 June 2022             | 24 |
| Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022          | 25 |

#### **Company Information**

#### **Directors**

M J Dilley

A R Hammond

#### **Company secretary**

D S Wilson

#### Registered office

Tungsten Building Blythe Valley Business Park Solihull West Midlands United Kingdom B90 8AU

#### **Bankers**

National Westminster Bank Bedford 81 High Street Bedford Bedfordshire MK40 1YN

#### **Independent auditors**

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 1 Embankment Place London WC2N 6RH

#### Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

The directors present their strategic report for Tilia Homes Limited (the "Company" and "Tilia Homes") for the year ended 30 June 2022.

#### **Principal activities**

The Company is principally engaged in the building and sale of residential properties in the United Kingdom.

#### **Business model and strategy**

Our business is based solely on the building and sale of residential properties, currently in England, excluding London and the South East. We currently operate four regional businesses in Northern, Central, Eastern and the West of England. The business also operates through several joint ventures, with partners including Cross Keys Homes and Homes England.

#### **Business Review**

#### **Transforming Tilia Homes**

Following the acquisition of the business on 28 May 2021 by Terra Firma, a leading Private Equity investment firm, the business has undertaken a root and branch transformation of its operations. This includes, but is not limited to, a significant change in key personnel, an overhaul of operational practices, implementation of new systems, and injections of capital to pursue new land acquisitions.

Tilia Homes' ambition is to forge a reputation for delivering high quality, well-designed and affordable midmarket homes for families and first-time buyers. Under new leadership, Tilia will target increasing the scale of its landbank, focusing on growth and on creating new neighbourhoods that communities can be proud of for many years to come.

Tilia's longer-term strategic vision will be determined by focusing on a number of key principles. These include:

- Always safety first we are proud of our continued strong health and safety statistics but remain fully
  aware that this has to be a daily priority everywhere we operate. We communicate regularly to staff and
  contractors on this topic and continue to invest in Health and Safety training. We will not accept
  complacency in this area and it will always remain our first priority.
- Being a housebuilder of first choice for our customers and our suppliers a focus on quality is critical and we intend to become an HBF five star rated housebuilder. We aim to build homes of the highest standard and have introduced new house types aimed at ensuring consistency and quality, whilst also respecting and protecting the unique character of the local area.
- Being an employer of first choice we firmly believe in the importance and power of committed, motivated, high-quality staff. With the growth targeted over the coming years, and an immediate focus on training and development for staff, we believe we can provide the challenge and opportunity for our staff, making us an employer of first choice.
- Delivering a step-change in sustainability we recognise the importance of environmental and social responsibility, and of being the most sustainable business possible. The on-going development of our new house-types is firmly focused on improving our environmental footprint. We are in the process of developing a considerably wider-ranging ESG strategy, with the full support and encouragement of Terra Firma, and are determined to lead the way in this field.

The degree of change within the business, combined with a focus on improving standards and quality, has resulted in a slowdown in completed units in the year ended 30 June 2022, driving a loss before tax of £16.0m. This includes £8.6m interest cost on the loan to our immediate parent following the acquisition in May 2021 (FY21: £2.2m). This overall loss is an improvement compared to the loss before tax in the prior year of £58.6m, however the prior year included £62.0m of one-off exceptional items.

During the year the board has been restructured with both of the current Tilia Homes Limited directors being appointed during the period, and the new management team have put in place plans to operationally strengthen the business. The primary focus has been in the construction and commercial operations, with a significant

#### **Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)**

change in personnel, who aspire to improve the quality and efficiency of our build process, whilst building stronger relationships with our materials and sub-contractor suppliers. Not only will this drive timely delivery of a better quality product but will also ensure we are managing costs tightly and delivering targeted margins.

It was also clear to the new management team that the systems and processes the business relied upon were not fit for purpose. Consequently, the Company has replaced its ERP system, implementing COINS. COINS is the ERP system of choice for most house builders of any size and allows full and joined up granularity of build programmes, costs to complete, and land appraisals. Currently the first two modules (financial and commercial) have been successfully implemented, with four more to follow including Construction. Implementation will materially improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the business, driving up build rates and down build cost. In addition, implementation of the finance module has given the Company full control of supplier payments (previously part of Kier Shared Service), allowing Tilia to pay suppliers promptly, improving operational relationships and keeping material supply flowing.

Investment in land will help drive the business forward and the land teams have a clear strategy in place to ensure we secure the right opportunities, at the right price, and commence development in the right way, with the backing of our new owners. In the year ended 30 June 2022 Tilia Homes Limited completed the purchase of 4 new sites, spending £35.3m which has been funded by the shareholder. In addition, 3 further sites were acquired by the Tilia Cross Keys joint venture, spending £9.3m.

Health and safety remains the number one priority at Tilia and we achieved an AIR (Accident Incident Rate) of 191 at June 2022 (127 as at June 2021), significantly below the HSE and HBF benchmarks of 272 and 239 respectively.

#### **Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)**

#### Housing market

In the year ended 30 June 2022 the UK housing market returned to the positive level that it was pre COVID-19, supported by the ongoing significant shortage of housing combined with stronger demand, facilitated by macroeconomic factors and relatively cheap mortgage financing. We continued to see selling prices remaining resilient and increasing.

Economic uncertainty due to continued high inflation and a return to increasing interest rates, has resulted in the housing market beginning to slow, albeit from an abnormal high. The Stamp duty land tax reduction introduced in September 2022 will help support the broader market, although the recent increases in mortgage interest rates are likely to have a greater negative effect on demand. Tilia's focus on smaller houses and first time / second time buyers should protect it to some degree from any market slowdown.

The board will ensure close management of the activities of the business and will ensure robust financial controls are in place.

#### Environmental impact and carbon use disclosures

The Company identifies sustainability as a fundamental aspect to ensure the long-term success of the Company. Being a sustainable business is more important than ever and we continue in the work towards changing mindsets to embrace sustainability so that it becomes embedded within every part of the business. Our new standard house type range is being designed to further reduce our carbon footprint and achieve the energy efficiency standards. We have instructed external consultants, Energist UK, to assist us with this. We are currently working with our ESG partners to establish policies to further demonstrate our commitment.

We continue to demonstrate our ongoing commitment to sustainability in the reduction of our carbon footprint. Smart meters are installed in all our new homes and electric charging points can be seen at all our regional offices. Our company car options demonstrate this further I n line with our commitment with 40% of the available options being electric vehicles.

We continue to source timber products delivered with a full chain custody from a credible, independent certification scheme, approved by the UK Government and we record our waste movements via Smartwaste and are currently reporting over 90% diversion rates from landfill.

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors' Report) Regulations 2013, we report on our greenhouse gas emissions as part of this Strategic Report.

Our methodology has been based on the principals of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, taking account of the 2015 amendment which sets out a 'dual reporting' methodology for the reporting of Scope 2 emissions.

#### **Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)**

#### Greenhouse gas emissions and intensity ratio

| Emission<br>Type                   |           | kWh        |        | CO <sub>2</sub> e to | nnes (Locati | on Based) |
|------------------------------------|-----------|------------|--------|----------------------|--------------|-----------|
| -                                  | 2022      | 2021       | Var. % | 2022                 | 2021         | Var. %    |
| Scope 1:<br>Combustion             | 5,596,351 | 8,937,050  | (37.4) | 1,324.51             | 2,076.77     | (36.2)    |
| Total Scope 1                      | 5,596,351 | 8,937,050  | (37.4) | 1,324.51             | 2,076.77     | (36.2)    |
| Scope 2:<br>Purchased<br>Energy    | 714,128   | 923,626    | (22.7) | 151.63               | 215.33       | (29.6)    |
| Total Scope 2                      | 714,128   | 923,626    | (22.7) | 151.63               | 215.33       | (29.6)    |
| Scope 3:<br>Indirect<br>Energy use | 2,904,662 | 3,419,039  | (15.0) | 690.15               | 822.52       | (16.1)    |
| Total Scope 3                      | 2,904,662 | 3,419,039  | (15.0) | 690.15               | 822.52       | (16.1)    |
| Total                              | 9,215,141 | 13,279,715 | (30.6) | 2,166.29             | 3,114.62     | (30.4)    |

|  | 2022   | 2021   |
|--|--------|--------|
| Number of employees                    | 447    | 502    |
| Intensity Ratio (tCO2/no of employees) | 4.8    | 6.2    |
| Revenue (£m)                           | 78.1   | 68.5   |
| Intensity Ratio (tCO2/£100k revenue)   | 0.0277 | 0.0455 |

#### People

We want the Company to continue to be a great place to work with a flexible, stimulating, and supportive environment where people feel recognised and appreciated. We help our people achieve their personal and professional goals and encourage the next generation of talent through internal career progression. Our annual appraisal scheme sets individual objectives and a clear development pathway through tailored training, centralised resources, and e-learning. We offer our teams an advanced Employee Assistance Programme and 24-hour access to a GP. The health and wellbeing of our people is extremely important to us. We have a monthly Living-Well newsletter, trained Mental Health First Aiders across the business and access to mental health counselling.

#### Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### Principal risks and uncertainties

The performance of the business is subject to several risks and the management of these is a key operating component of the Company. The long-term success of the business is impacted by the risk management approach adopted by the Company. The Company has identified, evaluated, and put in place strategies to mitigate the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the business, and these are formally reviewed by the Board.

The principal operating risks of the Company include, but are not limited to, the following areas:

| Key risk   | Nature of risk   | Mitigation  |
|--|--|---|
| Downturn in housing market                                   | Major price or sales volume reductions due to macro market forces                        | Structural market under-supply lowers long term risk. In short term conservative management, a focus on cash flow, and a strengthened balance sheet will help mitigate. A managed approach to building plots to control WIP spend and therefore control cash outflows is key. Tilia does not operate in London or the South East, the areas of the UK where house and land prices are highest |
| Increase in construction costs or reductions in availability | Materials and labour shortages, inflation in cost prices, and understated cost forecasts | Initiatives to mitigate include: Standard house types, increased central procurement, introduction of group commercial function, and the introduction of COINS ERP system. Regular CVR meetings to review costs to complete are integral to controlling spend and maximising profitability. Sales prices increases can also mitigate cost inflation   |
| Land availability  Failure to maintain a safe working        | Inability to procure land at satisfactory margins  Impact of a major incident on staff,  | Initiatives underway to reduce operating costs to improve land affordability. These include increased plotting densities, introduction of standard house types, and group buying initiatives Independent team in place to   |
| environment  | contractors, and reputation  | ensure adherence to our non-<br>negotiable health and safety<br>policies. Training and management<br>disciplines strongly enforced  |
| Personnel retention  | Staff turnover and inability to recruit quality personnel                                | HR Committee in place to review and react to the risk. Remuneration packages continually under review to ensure we remain competitive in the marketplace. New ownership reinforces Company's future growth prospects  |

### Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

| Key risk  | Nature of risk   | Mitigation   |
|---|--|--|
| Customer satisfaction   | Poor customer satisfaction impacting reputation and ability to sell                                  | Customer journey simplified, improved build quality reviews being introduced. New Construction Directors driving quality focus   |
| Cyber attack and associated fraud   | Risk of damage to data, systems, and reputation as a result of cyberattacks or fraudulent activities | New post-Kier IT environment<br>being designed with focus on<br>security and fraud prevention first.<br>Strong focus on segregation of<br>duties. Training in place for staff.<br>Additional security layers such as<br>2FA being introduced.<br>Whistleblowing process in place |
| Government / regulatory change  | Risk of additional costs and complexity arising from changes in legislation and regulation           | Close relationship built with HBF and Homes England to understand potential changes and to enable us to escalate and influence   |
| Recurrence of Covid-19<br>lockdowns or other global<br>pandemics                              | Impacts ability to build and sell  | We have a 2021 playbook in place which allows the business to operate Covid-19 secure and continue to build despite broader national restrictions  |
| Claims arising in relation to historic pre-acquisition completed projects                     | Potential financial impact if company is deemed liable and are required to rectify                   | Detailed review of old projects underway to identify potential risk. In places liability remains with Kier Group   |
| JV under-delivery   | Under-performance in JVs risking default against banking covenants                                   | Performance and forecasts, including projected covenant results are reviewed monthly, with action plans where possible. Relationships with lenders are open and supportive. Opportunity to waive or amend facilities if necessary has historically been available                |
| Major supplier or sub-contractor failure, including impact of global conflicts (e.g. Ukraine) | Risk of rising costs and impacts on<br>supply chain and lead times for<br>goods                      | Ensure sufficient diversifications of supply chain and continued frequent dialogue with key suppliers  |

#### **Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)**

#### **Financial Review**

Revenue for the year was £78.1m (2021: £68.5m), an increase of 14%. This increase has been driven by novation of contracts as part of the acquisition from Kier.

During the year the Company achieved 312 (2021: 290) legal completions. The Company operates though a number of joint ventures and 739 (2021: 943) completions were delivered through the joint ventures. Of the total 1,051 (2021: 1,233) completions, 859 (2021: 900) were open market private completions and 192 (2021: 333) were affordable housing equivalent units.

The Homes England joint venture ("Tilia Community Living") contributed 406 plots (2021: 429) and the Cross Keys Homes joint venture ("Tilia Cross Keys"), contributed 259 plots in the year (2021: 427).

The Company made a loss before interest and tax of £7.4m (2021: profit of £4.3m before exceptional items). The year on year reduction in legal completions has driven a lower share of joint venture profits of £12.8m (2021: £22.1m before exceptional items). Administrative expenses of £21.3m (2021: £12.1m before exceptional items) have increased significantly due to a reduction in the sales volume-related development fee credits received from joint ventures but also due to a full year of Terra Firma advisory fees (FY21: one month) and increased costs relating to staff changes.

|                             | Year ended 30 June<br>2022 | Year ended 30 June 2021 |
|-----------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| Legal completions (by type) |                            |                         |
| Private                     | 859                        | 900                     |
| Affordable                  | 192                        | 333                     |
| Total                       | 1,051                      | 1,233                   |

|                               | Year ended 30 June<br>2022 | Year ended 30 June<br>2021 |
|-------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| Legal completions (by entity) |                            |                            |
| Tilia Homes Ltd               | 312                        | 290                        |
| Tilia Community Living (JV)   | 406                        | 429                        |
| Tilia Cross Keys (JV)         | 259                        | 427                        |
| Other (JV)                    | 74                         | 87                         |
| Total                         | 1,051                      | 1,233                      |

# Tilia Homes Limited Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### Balance sheet at 30 June 2022

The Company had net assets of £66.7m (2021: £78.9m) and a cash balance of £23.7m (2021: £37.2m) at the year end.

The Company's inventory was £122.1m (2021: £94.5m). The Company also holds an investment of £112.5m (2021: £108.4m) in joint ventures.

At 30 June 2022, the Company had net debt of £117.9m (2021: £53.5m). Loan funding is provided to the Company via a £133.6m loan from its immediate parent Tilia Bidco Ltd. The loan expires in May 2026 and the interest rate is 8%. The Company also has access to a rolling credit facility (RCF) from Tilia Bidco Ltd. The amount drawn at 30 June 2022 was £8.0m. The Rolling Credit Facility (RCF) expires on 11 May 2024 and the interest rate is 8%.

Approved by the Board on 23 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

#### Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

#### Company secretary

D S Wilson (appointed 31 May 2022)

A G Secretarial Limited (appointed 9 June 2021, resigned 6 May 2022)

#### **Directors of the Company**

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing these financial statements were as follows:

N P Greenaway (appointed 21 December 2021, resigned 13 February 2023)

A R Hammond (appointed 4 February 2022)

M J Dilley (appointed 20 December 2021)

I D Crabb (appointed 30 May 2022, resigned 27 February 2023)

I Bharadwaj (appointed 6 October 2021, resigned 6 May 2022)

D Browne (resigned 21 December 2021)

D C Bridges (resigned 12 January 2022)

M J Coker (resigned 4 February 2022)

G B Phillips (resigned 15 October 2021)

#### Capital risk management

The Company's objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders by ensuring that the Company maintains sufficient liquidity to sustain its present and forecast operations.

The Company monitors current and forecast cash liquidity to ensure that there is sufficient capacity to meet requirements for the foreseeable future.

#### Financial risks and management

The Company's principal financial instruments comprise development land payables and cash. The Company has other financial instruments including trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from operations.

No trading in financial instruments has been undertaken.

The Company has exposure to a variety of financial risks through the conduct of its operations. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing risk as well as specific policies and guidelines.

The key financial risks resulting from the Company use of financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

#### Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### Financial risks and management (continued)

#### (a) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.

The Company's objective is to manage liquidity by ensuring that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as they become due. This will be assessed under normal and stress conditions, without incurring losses or risking damage to the Company's reputation.

The Company has rigorous cash management processes. Cash balances are reported daily and variances to short term cash forecasts are analysed as appropriate. Every week the Company prepares a daily rolling cashflow forecast with a forecast period of 20 weeks. These forecasts complement a minimum of four long term quarterly cash forecasts each year which are compared to the annual cash flow budget and to previous quarterly forecasts. These facilitate management's assessments of the Company's expected cash performance.

Key risks to liquidity and cash balances are a decrease in the value of open market sales, a downturn in the UK housing market, deterioration in credit terms obtainable in the market from suppliers and subcontractors, a downturn in the profitability of work, delayed receipt of cash from customers and a general decline in the ability of local authorities to fund urban regeneration projects.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Company continually monitors open market house sales volumes and prices; working capital levels and contract profitability; and both client and supplier credit references and credit terms with clients and suppliers to ensure they continue to be appropriate.

The Company does not have any derivative financial liabilities.

#### (b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual obligations mainly arising on the Company's trade receivables. The Company's exposure to credit risk is limited for open market housebuilding activities as the Company typically receives cash at the point of legal completion of its sales.

The credit risk on registered provider sales depends on the individual characteristics of the counterparty many of whom are in the public sector or are funded by the public sector such as housing associations. The Board consider that the credit rating of these customers is good and the credit risk on outstanding balances to be low and no provision is held against these balances.

#### (c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates, house prices and foreign exchange rates will affect the Company income or the value of the Company's financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the impact of interest rate increases on the Company's borrowing. The interest rate on the loan due to immediate parent Tilia Bidco Limited is at 8% based on the loan agreement which expires in May 2026. The Company has no other interest-bearing financial instruments.

#### Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### Financial risks and management (continued)

Housing market risk

The Company is fundamentally affected by the level of UK house prices. These in turn are affected by factors such as credit availability, employment levels, interest rates, consumer confidence and supply of land with planning.

Furthermore, Government incentives, such as the "Help to Buy" scheme, have helped to stimulate consumer demand. Whilst these risks are beyond the Company's ultimate control, risk is spread across differing business activities undertaken by the Company and the geographical regions in which it operates.

The UK housing market affects the valuation of the Company's non-financial assets and liabilities and the critical judgements applied by management in these financial statements, including the valuation of land and work-in-progress.

#### Currency risk

The Company operates entirely in the United Kingdom. All of the Company's revenue is generated in the United Kingdom and is denominated in pounds sterling. Consequently, the Company has very limited exposure to currency risk.

#### **Employment of disabled persons**

The Company are equal opportunities employers and consider applications for employment from disabled persons. Facilities, equipment and training are provided to assist disabled employees and, should an employee become disabled during their employment, efforts would be made to retain them in their current role or to explore opportunities for re-deployment in the Company.

#### **Future developments**

The Company continues to identify and invest in suitable land for future developments. Concurrently, we continue to work with local housing associations to tender for suitable projects. The business is conscious of the evolving and ongoing situation in Ukraine but as yet is not experiencing any direct impact.

#### **Directors' liabilities**

The articles of association of the Company entitle the directors of the Company, to the extent permitted by the Companies Act 2006 and other applicable legislation, to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company in the event that they suffer any expenses in connection with certain proceedings relating to the execution of their duties as directors of the Company.

In addition, insurance is maintained for the directors and officers of the Company to cover certain losses or liabilities to which they may be exposed due to their office

#### Reappointment of auditors

Under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be deemed to have been reappointed as auditors 28 days after these financial statements were sent to members or 28 days after the latest date prescribed for filing the accounts with the registrar, whichever is earlier.

#### **Dividends**

There was no dividend declared for the current nor prior year.

#### Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### Going concern

The directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Company's financial statements.

The Company has net assets and cash as at 30 June 2022 of £66.7m and £23.7m respectively. Funding to the Company is provided in the form of a loan from the Company's immediate parent, Tilia Bidco Limited. The principal amount of loan outstanding at 30 June 2022 was £133.6m. The loan expires in May 2026 and the interest rate is 8%. The Company also has access to a rolling credit facility (RCF) from Tilia Bidco Ltd. The amount drawn at 30 June 2022 was £8.0m. The current RCF expires on 11 May 2024 and the interest rate is 8%. The Company holds no other forms of debt. The Company has received written confirmation from the company heading the Group, Tilia Group Holdings Limited, that financial support will be provided for at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.

The Board has reviewed the business's cash flow forecasts for the period to 31 March 2024, based on certain key assumptions which include the price and volume of completed house sales over that period and changes to supplier purchases. The Board has also considered two plausible downside scenarios against these forecasts which show that the business can withstand them, while still maintaining adequate liquidity. The base and downside scenarios forecast, in conjunction with the letter of support provided from the Company's immediate parent, foresee that the business will continue to be able to pay its liabilities as they fall due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements.

#### Disclosure of information to the auditors

Under section 418 of the Companies Act, each director has taken steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information. The directors confirm that there is no relevant information that they know of and of which they know the auditors are unaware.

Approved by the Board on 23 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

#### Corporate Governance Section 172 Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

The Board is committed to engaging with our people, our stakeholders and the communities in which we operate, and creating a healthy and sustainable culture. The Directors of the Company have had regard for the matters set out in section 172(1) (a)-(f) of the Companies Act when performing their duty under s172. The Directors consider that they have acted in good faith in the way that would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole, while also considering the broad range of stakeholders who interact with and are impacted by our business.

The following details how the directors have had regard to the matters set out in s172(1) (a)-(f):

- (a) The likely consequences of any decision in the long term the long-term success of the company is always considered in making strategic decisions and this is aligned with the strategy and the risk management procedures within the company.
- (b) The interests of the company's employees we continue to reinforce the culture and values of the company, aimed at creating the right environment to create opportunities for individuals and teams to realise their full potential. Tilia is committed to developing an inclusive workplace, creating an environment which allows its people to thrive and enhancing diversity to deliver more value for our employees, clients and customers. Our values include a fundamental commitment to operate safely in everything we do as a company, and we have a detailed and rigorous health and safety policy in place. We have a strategy in place to be "The Employer of Choice" and have consulted with staff to ensure we fully understand what is important to them. We are delivering a breadth of training and are proactively supporting staff in their career development.
- (c) The need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers, and others stakeholder relationships are a key source of value that helps ensure the company's success is sustainable in the long term. The company seeks to ensure it manages the relationship with its stakeholders through regular communication across a number of media types. We have improved our processes with regard to ensuring delivery a quality product to our customer and continue to identify opportunities to improve. We have some strong relationships with our suppliers and see strong supplier relationships as being critical to our future success. We have implementing new payment systems which continue to improve the supplier payment process.
- (d) The impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment the impact of the company on the environment and our communities is factored in as a part of the company's decision-making processes. We support multiple charities within the areas we operate. Wherever we seek to undertake developments we undertake rigorous impact assessments of their impact on the environment. We are in the process of undertaking a full ESG review with the aim of introducing new policies, procedures and approaches to ensure we continue to act responsibly and with the highest levels of integrity
- (e) The desirability of the company maintaining a reputation of high standards of business conduct this is at the heart of the culture of the company to ensure high standards of business conduct are maintained with all its stakeholders
- (f) The need to act fairly between stakeholders of the company this is at the heart of the culture of the company and all business decisions are made taking into account the effect on all stakeholders, ensuring decisions are fair and appropriate to all

Approved by the Board on 23 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

#### Statement of Directors' Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework", and applicable law). Under Company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Approved by the Board on 23 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

# Independent auditors' report to the members of Tilia Homes Limited

### Report on the audit of the financial statements

#### **Opinion**

In our opinion, Tilia Homes Limited's financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 30 June 2022 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework", and applicable law); and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the "Annual Report"), which comprise: the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022; the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

#### Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

#### Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

# Independent auditors' report to the members of Tilia Homes Limited (continued)

#### Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

#### Strategic report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors' Report for the year ended 30 June 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

#### Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

#### Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

# Independent auditors' report to the members of Tilia Homes Limited (continued)

#### Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to Health and Safety legislation and building regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and UK tax legislation. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

- Discussions with management including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;
- Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;
- Review of the financial statement disclosure and underlying support documentation;
- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their accounting estimates, in particular in relation to work in progress;
- Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

#### Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

# Independent auditors' report to the members of Tilia Homes Limited (continued)

### Other required reporting

#### **Companies Act 2006 exception reporting**

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- · we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- · certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Andrew Paynter (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London

24 March 2023

Abyote.

Tilia Homes Limited

Income Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

|  |    | 2022     |                          |                            | 2021     |
|--|----|----------|--------------------------|----------------------------|----------|
|  |    | Total    | Before exceptional items | Exceptional items (note 6) | Total    |
|  |    | £000     | £000                     | £000                       | £000     |
| Revenue  | 4  | 78,124   | 68,494                   | -                          | 68,494   |
| Cost of sales                                      |    | (77,094) | (74,252)                 | (12,016)                   | (86,268) |
| Gross profit/(loss)                                |    | 1,030    | (5,758)                  | (12,016)                   | (17,774) |
| Administrative expenses<br>Share of joint ventures |    | (21,314) | (12,067)                 | (46,944)                   | (59,011) |
| profit   | 17 | 12,845   | 22,149                   | (3,025)                    | 19,124   |
| Operating (loss)/profit                            | 5  | (7,439)  | 4,324                    | (61,985)                   | (57,661) |
| (Loss)/profit before interest and tax              |    | (7,439)  | 4,324                    | (61,985)                   | (57,661) |
| Finance income                                     | 7  | -        | 1,259                    | -                          | 1,259    |
| Finance costs                                      | 8  | (8,561)  | (2,246)                  | -                          | (2,246)  |
| Net finance cost                                   |    | (8,561)  | (987)                    | -                          | (987)    |
| (Loss)/profit before tax                           |    | (16,000) | 3,337                    | (61,985)                   | (58,648) |
| Income tax credit                                  | 12 | 3,790    | 3,370                    | -                          | 3,370    |
| (Loss)/profit for the financial year               |    | (12,210) | 6,707                    | (61,985)                   | (55,278) |

The above results were derived from continuing operations.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

#### **Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 30 June 2022**

|  | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021<br>£ 000 |
|--|---------------|---------------|
| Loss for the financial year              | (12,210)      | (55,278)      |
| Total comprehensive expense for the year | (12,210)      | (55,278)      |

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

# Tilia Homes Limited (Registration number: 00775505)

#### Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022

|  | Note | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021 (restated*)<br>£ 000 |
|--|------|---------------|---------------------------|
| Non-current assets                       |      |               |                           |
| Intangible assets                        | 13   | 2,175         | 1,566                     |
| Property, plant and equipment            | 14   | 429           | 48                        |
| Right of use assets                      | 15   | 1,536         | 382                       |
| Investment in subsidiaries               | 16   | 23,368        | 23,368                    |
| Investment in joint ventures             | 17   | 112,492       | 108,420                   |
| Deferred tax assets                      | 12   | 6,429         | 3,505                     |
| Trade and other receivables              | 19   | 4,129         | 2,236                     |
|  |      | 150,558       | 139,525                   |
| Current assets                           |      |               |                           |
| Inventories                              | 18   | 122,115       | 94,464                    |
| Trade and other receivables              | 19   | 60,536        | 63,371                    |
| Current tax asset                        | 12   | 866           | -                         |
| Cash and cash equivalents                | 20   | 23,703        | 37,233                    |
| 1  |      | 207,220       | 195,068                   |
| Total assets                             |      | 357,778       | 334,593                   |
| Current liabilities                      |      |               |                           |
| Trade and other payables                 | 21   | (86,085)      | (103,707)                 |
| Loans and borrowings                     | 22   | (150,256)     | (90,698)                  |
| Lease liabilities                        | 23   | (718)         | (252)                     |
| Provisions                               | 24   | (8,016)       | (7,778)                   |
|  |      | (245,075)     | (202,435)                 |
| Non-current liabilities                  |      |               |                           |
| Trade and other payables                 | 21   | (39,532)      | (45,385)                  |
| Lease liabilities                        | 23   | (928)         | (126)                     |
| Provisions                               | 24   | (5,545)       | (7,739)                   |
|  |      | (46,005)      | (53,250)                  |
| Total liabilities                        |      | (291,080)     | (255,685)                 |
| Net assets                               |      | 66,698        | 78,908                    |
|  |      | 00,020        | . 5,5 00                  |
| Equity                                   | 26   | 220 57.1      | 220 5(1                   |
| Called up share capital                  | 26   | 228,761       | 228,761                   |
| Share premium reserve Accumulated losses |      | (1(2,0(0)     | (140.850)                 |
| Accumulated losses                       |      | (162,069)     | (149,859)                 |
| Total equity                             |      | 66,698        | 78,908                    |

#### (Registration number: 00775505) Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022

\* See note 30 to the financial statements for detail on the FY21 restatements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 20 to 50 were approved by the Board on 23 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Tilia Homes Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

|                                  | Share capital<br>£ 000 | Share premium<br>£ 000 | Accumulated losses £ 000 | Total<br>£ 000 |
|----------------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|
| At 1 July 2020                   | 228,761                | 6                      | (94,617)                 | 134,150        |
| Loss for the year                |                        | -                      | (55,278)                 | (55,278)       |
| Total comprehensive expense      | -                      | -                      | (55,278)                 | (55,278)       |
| Share based payment transactions |                        | -                      | 36                       | 36             |
| At 30 June 2021                  | 228,761                | 6                      | (149,859)                | 78,908         |
|                                  |                        |                        | Accumulated              |                |
|                                  | Share capital £ 000    | Share premium £ 000    | losses<br>£ 000          | Total<br>£ 000 |
| At 1 July 2021                   | 228,761                | 6                      | (149,859)                | 78,908         |
| Loss for the year                | -                      | -                      | (12,210)                 | (12,210)       |
| Total comprehensive expense      | -                      | -                      | (12,210)                 | (12,210)       |
| At 30 June 2022                  | 228,761                | 6                      | (162,069)                | 66,698         |

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022

#### 1 General information

The Company is a private Company limited by share capital incorporated and domiciled in England & Wales.

The address of its registered office is: Tungsten Building Blythe Valley Business Park Solihull West Midlands United Kingdom

The principal business activity of the Company is housebuilding.

#### 2 Accounting policies

#### **Basis of preparation**

B90 8AU

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 101 issued by the Financial Reporting Council. The financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Statements have been produced in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. Financial reports have been prepared under an historical cost and going concern basis.

The Company is a subsidiary undertaking of Tilia Bidco Limited, a company registered in Guernsey.

The largest company in which the results of the Company are consolidated is Tilia Group Holdings Limited, a company registered in Guernsey. The Tilia Group Holdings Limited financial statements are available via the website <a href="www.tiliahomes.co.uk">www.tiliahomes.co.uk</a>. The Company is therefore exempt by virtue of section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements.

#### **Summary of disclosure exemptions**

The following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements, in accordance with FRS 101:

IAS 7, 'Statement of cash flows';

Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, 'Share-based payment' (details of the number and weighted average exercise prices of share options, and how the fair value of goods or services received was determined);

Paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8, 'Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors' (requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet effective);

IFRS 7, 'Financial instruments: Disclosures';

Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, 'Fair value measurement' (disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement of assets and liabilities);

The requirements in IAS 24, 'Related party disclosures', to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members of a group;

Paragraph 17 of IAS 24, 'Related party disclosures' (key management compensation);

Paragraph 38 of IAS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements' – comparative information requirements in respect of: paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1; paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16, 'Property, plant and equipment'; and paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38, 'Intangible assets' (reconciliations between the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period);

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

The requirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118, 119(a) to (c), 120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers; and

Paragraph 52, the second sentence of paragraph 89, and paragraphs 90, 91 and 93 of IFRS 16 Leases. The requirements of paragraph 58 of IFRS 16, provided that the disclosure of details of indebtedness required by paragraph 61(1) of Schedule 1 to the Regulations is presented separately for lease liabilities and other liabilities, and in total.

The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS101 in its next financial statements

#### Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

#### Going concern

The directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Company's financial statements.

The Company has net assets and cash as at 30 June 2022 of £66.7m and £23.7m respectively. Funding to the Company is provided in the form of a loan from the Company's immediate parent, Tilia Bidco Limited. The principal amount of loan outstanding at 30 June 2022 was £133.6m. The loan expires in May 2026 and the interest rate is 8%. The Company also has access to a rolling credit facility (RCF) from Tilia Bidco Ltd. The amount drawn at 30 June 2022 was £8.0m. The current RCF expires on 11 May 2024 and the interest rate is 8%. The Company holds no other forms of debt. The Company has received written confirmation from the company heading the Group, Tilia Group Holdings Limited, that financial support will be provided for at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.

The Board has reviewed the business's cash flow forecasts for the period to 31 March 2024, based on certain key assumptions which include the price and volume of completed house sales over that period and changes to supplier purchases. The Board has also considered two plausible downside scenarios against these forecasts which show that the business can withstand them, while still maintaining adequate liquidity. The base and downside scenarios forecast, in conjunction with the letter of support provided from the Company's immediate parent, foresee that the business will continue to be able to pay its liabilities as they fall due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements.

#### Changes in accounting policy

There are no amendments to accounting standards, or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 that have a material impact on the company's financial statements.

#### Functional and presentational currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates ('the functional currency'). The financial statements are presented in 'Pounds Sterling'  $(\mathfrak{t})$  which is also the Company's functional currency.

#### Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive income is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income. The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements and on unused tax losses or tax credits in the Company. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and a valuation allowance is set up against deferred tax assets so that the net carrying amount equals the highest amount that is more likely than not to be recovered based on current or future taxable profit.

#### Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment is stated in the statement of financial position at cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes directly attributable incremental costs incurred in their acquisition and installation.

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost of assets in equal annual instalments over the period of their estimated economic lives, which are principally as follows:

Leasehold buildings and improvements Period of lease Plant and equipment (including vehicles) 3-12 years

#### Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

#### **Investments in joint ventures**

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for at the cost of the initial investment and results recognised via equity accounting shown in the financial statement under share of joint ventures profits. Joint ventures are fundamental to the Company's operations and therefore the share of post-tax results of joint ventures is presented within operating results.

#### Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

#### Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for stock sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

The Company applies the IFRS 9 expected credit and losses method to estimate the provision for impairment for trade receivables at year end.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

#### **Inventories**

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The inventory balance is dependent on the equalised margin approach based on expected site-wide profit. At each reporting date, inventories are assessed for impairment. If inventory is impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell; the impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Contract work in progress is stated at costs incurred, less those transferred to the income statement, after deducting foreseeable losses and payments on account not yet matched with turnover. Speculative housing land, stock plots and work in progress, which includes attributable overheads, is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Part exchange stock is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

#### **Provisions**

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present or legal constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and where it is probably that an outflow will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions held by the Company are currently limited to onerous contract provisions.

#### **Contingent liabilities**

In accordance with IAS 37, the Group monitors, as contingent liabilities, those possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within its control; and those present obligations arising from past events not recognised because it is either not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation or the amount cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

#### Employee benefit expense

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

#### **Borrowings**

All borrowings are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost, with the difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the amount due on redemption being recognised as a charge to the income statement over the period of the relevant borrowing.

Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method and is included in finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

#### Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is deferred and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

#### **Dividends**

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholder.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

#### Revenue and profit recognition

#### Recognition

Revenue is recognised principally from the sale of homes we build.

#### Private sales

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable on legal completion, being the point that control is deemed to pass to the customer.

Profit is recognised on the sale by reference to the estimated cost based on an allocation from the expected overall cost out-turn for the development site. The principal estimation technique used by the Company in attributing profit on sites to a particular period is the preparation of forecasts of costs to complete on a site-by-site basis. Consistent review procedures are in place in respect of site forecasting.

#### Affordable housing

The Company constructs and sells residential properties and undertakes associated development activities under long-term contracts with customers. Such contracts are entered into before construction of residential properties or associated development activities begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the Company has an enforceable right to payment for work done. Revenue from construction of residential properties and associated development activities is therefore recognised over time based on a certified monthly valuation of work performed or the assessed physical stage of completion at the balance sheet date.

The Company reports the net contract position for each contract as either an asset or a liability. A contract represents an asset where costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceeds progress billings; a contract represents a liability where the opposite is the case.

#### Part exchange

In certain situations, a property may be accepted in part consideration for a sale of a residential property. The fair value is established by independent surveyors and we take into consideration costs to sell the part exchange property in the future. Gross proceeds generated from the subsequent sale of part exchange properties are recorded as a revenue event with a corresponding cost of sale. The original sale is recorded with the fair value of the exchanged property replacing cash receipts.

#### Cash incentives

The transaction price may include cash incentives. These act as a discount from the purchase price offered to the customer and accounted for as a reduction to revenue.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

#### Share based payments

The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the entity. The fair value of the employee services received is measured by reference to the estimated fair value at the grant date of equity instruments granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period. The estimated fair value of the option granted is calculated using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

Following the sale of the Company from Kier Group plc in May 2021, the awarding of new share-based payments ceased.

#### **Intangible assets**

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as expenses as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Company are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

- it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;
- management intends to complete the software and use it;
- there is an ability to use the software;
- it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;
- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the software are available; and
- the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include the software development employee costs.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives, which does not exceed 7 years.

The line item of the income statement in which amortisation of intangible assets is included is administrative expenses.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

#### Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

#### Leases

As required under IFRS16, assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

- Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
- Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
- Amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees;
- The exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
- Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

The Company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

- The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
- Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
- Any initial direct costs; and
- Any restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.

The Company has elected to use the following recognition exemptions, as permitted by the standard:

- Leases of low-value items The Company has defined low value items as assets that have a value when new of less than £5k. Low value items comprise IT equipment and small items of plant.
- Short-term leases Leases with a lease term of less than 12 months at inception.

For leases in the above categories, a lease liability or right-of-use asset is not recognised. Instead, the Company recognises the related lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 2 Accounting policies (continued)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Leased properties that meet the definition of investment properties are presented within 'investment properties' rather than 'right-of-use assets' on the balance sheet.

#### **Exceptional items**

An adjusted profit before exceptional items measure has been presented as the directors conclude that this provides a stronger understanding of financial performance.

Exceptional items are items that are material either individually or, if of a similar type, in aggregate and which, due to their nature or the infrequency of the events giving rise to them, are presented separately to enhance understanding of the financial performance of the Company. Such items are presented in a separate column on the face of the income statement because they are not considered to be representative of the trading performance of the Company during the year. The directors have noted that there are no exceptional items in the current financial year.

#### 3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, making a judgement on the recoverability of inventory and judgement over the treatment of joint ventures. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed below.

#### Sources of estimation uncertainty

#### Cost allocation and estimation

In order to determine the profit that the Company is able to recognise on its developments in a specific period, the Company has to allocate site-wide development costs between units built in the current year and in future years. It also has to estimate costs to complete, including those driven by climate related regulation, on such developments, and make estimates relating to future sales price margins on those developments and units. In making these assessments, there is a degree of inherent uncertainty. The range of possible outcomes naturally increases in periods of economic uncertainty and the Group's margin is sensitive to cost inflation, particularly if not offset by house price inflation, and a fall in sales rates.

#### Critical accounting judgements

#### Joint ventures

In accordance with IFRS 11 joint ventures are identified where the control of an arrangement is shared and decisions around activities require unanimous consent if the action significantly affects the investees return. The key judgement involved in determining joint control is that the board structure does not give any one party majority control over relevant activities, regardless of the economic split between partners.

#### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 4 Revenue

The analysis of the Company's revenue for the year from continuing operations is as follows:

|               | 2022   | 2021   |
|---------------|--------|--------|
|               | £ 000  | £ 000  |
| Sale of goods | 78,124 | 68,494 |

The Company has only one operating segment as residential property.

#### 5 Operating (loss)/profit

Arrived at after charging:

|                                     | Note | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021<br>£ 000 |
|-------------------------------------|------|---------------|---------------|
|                                     |      |               |               |
| Amortisation expense                | 13   | 748           | 669           |
| Depreciation expense                | 14   | 51            | 25            |
| Depreciation of right of use assets | 15   | 725           | 389           |
| Exceptional items                   | 6    | -             | 61,985        |

#### 6 Exceptional items

Included in the income statement are the following items:

| Narrative<br>reference | 2022<br>£ 000          | 2021<br>£ 000                  |
|------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|
|                        |                        |                                |
| ii                     | -                      | 14,793                         |
| iii                    | -                      | (3,430)                        |
| iv                     | -                      | 1,819                          |
| v                      | <u>-</u>               | 248                            |
|                        |                        | 61,985                         |
|                        | reference i ii iii iii | reference  i  ii  iii  iii  iv |

## Tilia Homes Limited Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 6 Exceptional items (continued)

The directors believe that highlighting exceptional items allows for a better standing of underlying performance. No exceptional items were presented during the year end 30 June 2022 and those included in the comparatives are outlined below:

#### Exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2021

#### (i) Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

The Company impaired investments of £48.6m in subsidiaries Tilia Homes Caledonia Limited and Tilia Partnership Homes Limited (£32.8m and £15.8m respectively). Immediately prior to the sale of business, overdrafts held within these subsidiaries due to Kier Group Plc were cleared by the Company. This gave rise to an investment recognised by the Company in respect of these subsidiaries which, given the lack of recoverability, was immediately impaired.

#### (ii) Work in progress cost-alignment exercise

Following the acquisition of the company by Terra Firma, a commercial review of the Northern regional business identified additional works required to several sites, the cost of which, in addition to inflationary pressures expected in completion of these sites, have led to a significant reduction in expected margins across these sites. This has resulted in a charge of £14.8m being recorded in the prior year, of which £3.0m relates to sites held within joint ventures.

#### (iii) Acquisition-related income/expenses

The Company received £5.1m of working capital assets that were novated to the Company under Homes England's Delivery Partner Panel 2 ("DPP2") for £Nil consideration. This resulted in an exceptional gain which the directors deem outside of the normal course of trading. Furthermore, a provision of £1.4m has been made against other assets for which recoverability is uncertain. Finally, separation costs of £0.3m, predominantly in relation to rebranding and marketing, were incurred during the prior year. These costs are not deemed part of the business' trading but nevertheless essential as a result of the rebranding from Kier Living to Tilia Homes.

#### (iv) Impairment of intangible asset

The estimated useful life of the Marble CRM system intangible asset was reassessed. The original useful life of the asset was 7 years and it would have been fully amortised by March 2026. The outcome of the reassessment is an impairment of £1.8m in order for the asset to be fully written down at June 2023 at which point the asset is not expected to have any residual value to the Company.

#### (v) Costs incurred exiting fixed price build contracts

During the year ended 30 June 2020 the Company reviewed its exposure to fixed price build contracts with a decision made to exit this market and focus on mixed tenure development. During the year ended 30 June 2021 the Company incurred £0.2m of costs associated with the exit of these contracts.

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 7 Finance income

|                                  | 2022  | 2021  |
|----------------------------------|-------|-------|
|                                  | £ 000 | £ 000 |
| Interest income on bank deposits | -     | 507   |
| Other finance income             |       | 752   |
|                                  |       | 1,259 |

#### 8 Finance costs

|  | 2022  | 2021  |
|--|-------|-------|
|  | £ 000 | £ 000 |
| Interest on bank overdrafts and borrowings | -     | 1,268 |
| Interest on loan due to immediate parent   | 8,020 | 676   |
| Other finance costs                        | 541   | 302   |
| Total                                      | 8,561 | 2,246 |

### 9 Staff costs

The aggregate payroll costs (including directors' remuneration) were as follows:

|  | 2022                | 2021            |
|--|---------------------|-----------------|
| Wages and salaries                         | <b>£ 000</b> 24,277 | £ 000<br>25,650 |
| Social security costs                      | 2,806               | 2,826           |
| Pension costs, defined contribution scheme | 1,039               | 1,891           |
| Share-based payment expenses               |                     | 36              |
|  | 28,122              | 30,403          |

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Company (including directors) during the year, analysed by category was as follows:

|                                   | 2022 | 2021 |
|-----------------------------------|------|------|
|                                   | No.  | No.  |
| Production                        | 271  | 318  |
| Administration and support        | 66   | 64   |
| Sales, marketing and distribution | 110  | 120  |
|                                   | 447  | 502  |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

| 10 Directors' remuneration   |                    |                    |
|--|--------------------|--------------------|
|  | 2022               | 2021               |
| Remuneration   | £ 000<br>1,625     | <b>£ 000</b> 1,994 |
| Total payments of £246k (2021: £44k) were paid to directors in respect of                          |                    |                    |
| During the year the number of directors who were receiving benefits and                            |                    |                    |
|  | 2022<br>No.        | 2021<br>No.        |
| Accruing benefits under money purchase pension scheme  | 4                  | 5                  |
| In respect of the highest paid director:   |                    |                    |
|  | 2022               | 2021               |
|  | £ 000              | £ 000              |
| Remuneration   | 339                | 588                |
| 11 Auditors' remuneration  |                    |                    |
|  | 2022<br>£ 000      | 2021<br>£ 000      |
| Statutory audit services   | <b>£ 000</b><br>91 | 183                |
|  |                    |                    |
| 12 Income tax credit   |                    |                    |
| Tax credited in the income statement:  |                    |                    |
|  | 2022<br>£ 000      | 2021<br>£ 000      |
| Current taxation   |                    |                    |
| Group relief receivable  | (866)              | -                  |
| Total current taxation   | (866)              | _                  |
| Deferred taxation  |                    |                    |
| Arising from origination and reversal of temporary differences                                     | (945)              | (2,241)            |
| Arising from changes in tax rates and laws   | (1,498)            | (44)               |
| Arising from previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference of prior periods | (481)              | (1,085)            |
| Total deferred taxation  | (2,924)            | (3,370)            |
| Tax credit in the income statement   | (3,790)            | (3,370)            |

## Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

### 12 Income tax credit (continued)

The tax on loss before tax for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (2021: lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK) of 19% (2021: 19%). The differences are reconciled below:

|  | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021<br>£ 000 |
|--|---------------|---------------|
| Loss before taxation   | (16,000)      | (58,648)      |
| Corporation tax at standard rate of 19% (2021: 19%)                                    | (3,040)       | (11,143)      |
| Decrease in current tax from adjustment for prior periods                              | (481)         | (1,085)       |
| Increase from effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit/tax loss | 1,305         | 556           |
| Intercompany impairments not deductible  | · =           | 8,346         |
| Deferred tax credit relating to changes in tax rates or laws                           | (1,498)       | (44)          |
| Group relief surrendered   | 790           | -             |
| Receipt for group relief   | (790)         | _             |
| Residential property developer tax group relief  | (76)          | -             |
| Total tax credit   | (3,790)       | (3,370)       |

The deferred tax balance as at the year end has been recognised at 25% (2021: 19%) which is the enacted corporation tax rate that will be effective from 1 April 2023.

#### **Deferred** tax

Deferred tax movement during the year:

|                              | Recognised in |                  |                     |
|------------------------------|---------------|------------------|---------------------|
|                              | At 1 July     | At 1 July income | At                  |
|                              | 2021          | statement        | <b>30 June 2022</b> |
|                              | £ 000         | £ 000            | £ 000               |
| Losses                       | 3,321         | 2,984            | 6,305               |
| Accelerated tax depreciation | 184           | (60)             | 124                 |
| Net tax assets               | 3,505         | 2,924            | 6,429               |

Deferred tax movement during the prior year:

|                              | R                | ecognised in |              |
|------------------------------|------------------|--------------|--------------|
|                              | At 1 July income |              | At           |
|                              | 2020             | statement    | 30 June 2021 |
|                              | £ 000            | £ 000        | £ 000        |
| Losses                       | -                | 3,321        | 3,321        |
| Accelerated tax depreciation | 135              | 49           | 184          |
| Net tax assets               | 135              | 3,370        | 3,505        |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

## 12 Income tax credit (continued)

### **Current tax**

Current tax movement during the year:

| Receipts for group relief                              | At 1 July<br>2021<br>£ 000 | Receipts for<br>group relief<br>£ 000 | At<br>30 June 2022<br>£ 000<br>866 |
|--|----------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Net tax assets   |                            | - 866                                 | 866                                |
| Current tax movement during the prior year:            |                            |                                       |                                    |
|  | At 1 July<br>2020<br>£ 000 | Payments for group relief £ 000       | At<br>30 June 2021<br>£ 000        |
| Receipts/(payments) for group relief<br>Net tax assets | 930<br>930                 | (= )                                  |                                    |

## 13 Intangible assets

|                                 | CRM system<br>£ 000 | ERP system<br>£ 000 | Assets under construction £ 000 | Total<br>£ 000 |
|---------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|----------------|
| Cost                            |                     |                     |                                 |                |
| At 1 July 2021                  | 4,661               | -                   | 229                             | 4,890          |
| Additions                       | -                   | 1,357               | -                               | 1,357          |
| Transfer to 'ERP system'        | _                   | 229                 | (229)                           |                |
| At 30 June 2022                 | 4,661               | 1,586               | -                               | 6,247          |
| Impairment                      |                     |                     |                                 |                |
| At 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 | 1,819               | -                   | -                               | 1,819          |
| Accumulated amortisation        |                     |                     |                                 |                |
| At 1 July 2021                  | 1,505               | -                   | -                               | 1,505          |
| Charge for the year             | 669                 | 79                  | -                               | 748            |
| At 30 June 2022                 | 2,174               | 79                  | -                               | 2,253          |
| Carrying amount                 |                     |                     |                                 |                |
| At 30 June 2022                 | 668                 | 1,507               | -                               | 2,175          |
| At 30 June 2021                 | 1,337               | -                   | 229                             | 1,566          |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

# 14 Property, plant and equipment

|                                 | Total £ 000 |
|---------------------------------|-------------|
| Cost                            |             |
| At 1 July 2021                  | 580         |
| Additions                       | 432         |
| Disposals                       | (324)       |
| At 30 June 2022                 | 688         |
| Impairment                      |             |
| At 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 | 140         |
| Accumulated Depreciation        |             |
| At 1 July 2021                  | 392         |
| Disposals                       | (324)       |
| Charge for the year             | 51          |
| At 30 June 2022                 | 119         |
| Carrying amount                 |             |
| At 30 June 2022                 | 429         |
| At 30 June 2021                 | 48          |

## 15 Right of use assets

|                                  | Land and<br>buildings<br>£ 000 | Motor vehicles<br>£ 000 | Total<br>£ 000 |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------|----------------|
| Carrying amount                  |                                |                         |                |
| At 30 June 2021                  | 35                             | 347                     | 382            |
| Additions                        | 1,018                          | 888                     | 1,906          |
| Disposals                        | -                              | (27)                    | (27)           |
| Depreciation charge for the year | (262)                          | (463)                   | (725)          |
| At 30 June 2022                  | 791                            | 745                     | 1,536          |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

### 16 Investment in subsidiaries

## Carrying amount

At 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022

23,368

Investments' carrying values are supported by their recoverable amounts as wholly owned subsidiaries with the relevant intercompany balances.

Details of the subsidiaries as at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

|  |                    |  | Proportion of<br>ownership<br>interest and<br>voting rights |                            |
|--|--------------------|--|---|----------------------------|
| Name of subsidiary                                 | Principal activity | Registered office  | held<br>2022  | 2021                       |
| Allison Homes Eastern<br>Limited*                  | Dormant            | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | <b>2021</b><br>100% / 100% |
| Balaam Wood<br>Management Company<br>Limited       | Management Company | 94 Park Lane, Croydon, Surrey,<br>England, CR0 1JB                               | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100%                |
| Bellwinch Homes<br>Limited                         | Dormant            | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100%                |
| Bellwinch Homes<br>(Western) Limited               | Dormant            | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100%                |
| Bellwinch Limited*                                 | Dormant            | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100%                |
| Connect 21 Community<br>Limited                    | Management Company | Queensway House, 11<br>Queensway, New Milton,<br>Hampshire, England, BH25 5NR    | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100%                |
| Elsea Park Bourne<br>Management Company<br>Limited | Management Company | 86A The Maltings, Roydon<br>Road, Stanstead Abbotts, Herts,<br>England, SG12 8UU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100%                |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

## 16 Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

| Name of and o'd'   | D. d. d. d. d. d. d.         | Decident la constant   | Proportion of<br>ownership<br>interest and<br>voting rights |             |
|--|------------------------------|--|---|-------------|
| Name of subsidiary   | Principal activity           | Registered office  | held<br>2022  | 2021        |
| Heatherwood<br>(Thetford) Managemer<br>Company Limited                             | Management Company<br>t      | 86A The Maltings, Roydon<br>Road, Stanstead Abbotts, Herts,<br>SG12 8UU          | 100% / 100%   |             |
| Hugh Bourn<br>Developments<br>(Wragby) Limited<br>(dissolved 30<br>September 2020) | Dissolved                    | KPMG LLP<br>15 Canada Square<br>Canary Wharf<br>London E14 5GL                   | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Javelin Construction<br>Company Limited<br>(dissolved 18 August<br>2020)           | Dissolved                    | 1 More London Place, London<br>SE1 2AF   | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Tilia Homes Caledonia<br>Limited*  | Residential development      | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Tilia Homes Northern<br>Limited*   | Dormant                      | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Tilia Land Limited*  | Dormant                      | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Tilia Living<br>Developments Limited   | Dormant<br>*                 | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Tilia Partnership<br>Homes Limited*  | Residential<br>Housebuilding | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Manor Kingsway<br>Management Company<br>Limited                                    | Dormant                      | Fisher House, 84 Fisherton<br>Street, Salisbury, England, SP2<br>7QY             | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Tempsford Cedars<br>Limited*   | Non-trading                  | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

## 16 Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

| Name of subsidiary                | Principal activity | Registered office  | Proportion of<br>ownership<br>interest and<br>voting rights<br>held<br>2022 | 2021        |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------|--|---|-------------|
| Twigden Homes<br>Limited*         | Dormant            | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Twigden Homes<br>Southern Limited | Dormant            | Tungsten Building, Blythe<br>Valley Business Park, Solihull,<br>England, B90 8AU | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |
| Sea Place Managemen<br>Limited*   | t Dormant          | Queensway House, 1<br>Queensway, New Milton,<br>Hampshire, BH25 5NR              | 100% / 100%   | 100% / 100% |

<sup>\*</sup> indicates direct investment of the Company

## 17 Investment in joint ventures

|   | £ 000   |
|---|---------|
| Investment in JVs                           |         |
| At 1 July 2021                              | 108,420 |
| Share of post-tax results of joint ventures | 12,845  |
| Dividends received                          | (6,052) |
| Loan repayments                             | (685)   |
| Fair value adjustments                      | (2,036) |
| At 30 June 2022                             | 112,492 |
| Carrying amount                             |         |
| At 30 June 2022                             | 112,492 |
| At 30 June 2021                             | 108,420 |

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

## 17 Investment in Joint Ventures (continued)

Details of the joint ventures as at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

| Name of joint venture  | Principal activity            | Registered office                                    | Proportion of interest | ownership       |
|--|-------------------------------|--|------------------------|-----------------|
| Black Rock Devco LLI   | PResidential development      | One St Peters Square                                 | <b>2022</b> 50%        | <b>2021</b> 50% |
| Black Rock Bever BEI   | residential development       | Manchester, England, M2 3DE                          | 3070                   | 3070            |
| Black Rock Holdco 1<br>LLP                                       | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Black Rock Holdco 2<br>LLP                                       | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Driffield Devco LLP  | Residential Development       | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Driffield Holdco 1 LLF   | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Driffield Holdco 2 LLP   | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Easingwold Devco LLI   | PResidential Development      | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Easingwold Holdco 1<br>LLP                                       | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Easingwold Holdco 2<br>LLP                                       | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%             |
| Farington Moss Devco<br>LLP (dissolved on 13<br>October 2020)    | Dissolved                     | 81 Fountain Street, Manchester,<br>England, M2 2EE   | 10%                    | 10%             |
| Farington Moss Holded<br>1 LLP (dissolved on 13<br>October 2020) |                               | 81 Fountain Street, Manchester,<br>England, M2 2EE   | 10%                    | 10%             |
| Farington Moss Holder<br>2 LLP (dissolved on 13<br>October 2020) |                               | 81 Fountain Street, Manchester,<br>England, M2 2EE   | 10%                    | 10%             |
| Tilia Cross Keys Dev<br>LLP                                      | Residential development       | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 90%                    | 90%             |
| Tilia Cross Keys<br>Holdco 1 LLP                                 | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 90%                    | 90%             |
| Tilia Cross Keys<br>Holdco 2 LLP                                 | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 90%                    | 90%             |
| Tilia Community<br>Living LLP                                    | Residential Development       | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 69%                    | 69%             |

## Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

### 17 Investment in Joint Ventures (continued)

| Name of joint venture                  | e Principal activity          | Registered office                                    | Proportion of interest | ownership |
|--|-------------------------------|--|------------------------|-----------|
|  |                               |  | 2022                   | 2021      |
| Tilia Community<br>Living Holdco 1 LLP | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 69%                    | 69%       |
| Tilia Community<br>Living Holdco 2 LLP | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 69%                    | 69%       |
| Tilia Community<br>Living Topco 1 LLP  | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 69%                    | 69%       |
| Tilia Community<br>Living Topco 2 LLP  | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 69%                    | 69%       |
| TCK Peterborough<br>Devco LLP          | Residential Development       | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 90%                    | 90%       |
| TCK Peterborough<br>Holdco 1 LLP       | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 90%                    | 90%       |
| TCK Peterborough<br>Holdco 2 LLP       | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 90%                    | 90%       |
| Tilia Sovereign LLP                    | Residential Development       | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%       |
| Notaro Kier LLP                        | Residential Development       | 81 Fountain Street, Manchester, England, M2 2EE      | 50%                    | 50%       |
| Stokesley LLP                          | Residential Development       | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%       |
| Stokesley Holdco 1<br>LLP              | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%       |
| Stokesley Holdco 2<br>LLP              | Investment holding<br>Company | One St Peters Square,<br>Manchester, England, M2 3DE | 50%                    | 50%       |

#### Tilia Cross Keys Dev LLP

The Company indirectly holds 90% beneficial interest and 50% voting rights in Tilia Cross Keys Dev LLP which is incorporated in England and Wales with the principal activity of residential development. The total carrying value of investment is £58,910k (2021: £56,243k). Trading profit in the year was £9,956k (2021: £15,312k).

### Tilia Community Living LLP

The Group indirectly holds 69% ownership in Tilia Community Living LLP which is incorporated in England and Wales with the principal activity of residential development. Total carrying amount of investment is £41,038k (2021: £36,943k). There were trading profits in the year of £5,935k (2021: £3,289k).

### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 18 Inventories

|                  | 2022    | 2021   |
|------------------|---------|--------|
|                  | £ 000   | £ 000  |
| Work in progress | 122,115 | 94,464 |

The cost of inventories expensed in the year and included within cost of sales was £77,094k (2021: £86,268k).

The directors consider all inventories to be essentially current in nature although the Company's operational cycle is such that a proportion of inventories will not be realised with 12 months. It is not possible to accurately determine when specific inventory will be realised as this is subject to several issues including consumer demand and planning permission.

Included within inventories are £171k (2021: £985k) of part exchange properties.

#### 19 Trade and other receivables

| Current                                       | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021<br>£ 000 |
|---|---------------|---------------|
| Current                                       | r 000         | r ooo         |
| Trade receivables                             | 5,161         | 7,646         |
| Amounts due from related parties              | 45,859        | 51,124        |
| Prepayments                                   | 833           | 1,324         |
| Contract assets                               | 488           | 2,383         |
| Other receivables                             | 8,195         | 894           |
| Total current trade and other receivables     | 60,536        | 63,371        |
|   | 2022          | 2021          |
| Non-current                                   | £ 000         | £ 000         |
| Total non-current trade and other receivables | 4,129         | 2,236         |

Balances for related parties include normal trading balances which will be settled in accordance with normal business trading.

The Company's exposure to credit and market risks, including maturity analysis, relating to trade and other receivables is disclosed in the financial risk review note as part of the Directors' report.

#### 20 Cash and cash equivalents

|              | 2022   | 2021   |
|--------------|--------|--------|
|              | £ 000  | £ 000  |
| Cash on hand | 23,703 | 37,233 |

## Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

## 21 Trade and other payables

|  | 2022   | 2021    |
|--|--------|---------|
| Current                                    | £ 000  | £ 000   |
| Trade payables                             | 23,846 | 21,070  |
| Accrued expenses (restated – see note 30)  | 18,889 | 30,346  |
| Amounts due to related parties             | 40,663 | 47,367  |
| Contract liabilities                       | 1,254  | 1,922   |
| Social security and other taxes            | 1,371  | 2,285   |
| Other payables                             | 62     | 717     |
| Total current trade and other payables     | 86,085 | 103,707 |
| N  | 2022   | 2021    |
| Non-current                                | £ 000  | £ 000   |
| Total non-current trade and other payables | 39,532 | 45,385  |

Balances for related parties include normal trading balances which will be settled in accordance with normal business trading.

### 22 Loans and borrowings

|   | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021<br>£ 000 |
|---|---------------|---------------|
| Current loans and borrowings                              |               |               |
| Loan payable to immediate parent (restated – see note 30) | 142,170       | 90,698        |
| RCF payable to immediate parent                           | 8,086         | <u> </u>      |
| Total current loans and borrowings                        | 150,256       | 90,698        |

The loan is repayable on demand and therefore has been disclosed as current, with an interest rate of 8%. The current RCF expires on 11 May 2024.

# Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

2022

(210)

1,646\_

2022

2021

(28)

378

2021

### 23 Lease liabilities

Leases included in liabilities

|  | £ 000         | £ 000         |
|--|---------------|---------------|
| Current  | 718           | 252           |
| Non-current  | 928           | 126           |
| Total lease liabilities  | 1,646         | 378           |
| Lease liabilities maturity analysis                              |               |               |
| Future minimum lease payments as at 30 June 2022 are as follows: |               |               |
|  | 2022<br>£ 000 | 2021<br>£ 000 |
| Less than one year   | 826           | 272           |
| One to two years   | 531           | 92            |
| Two to three years   | 338           | 40            |
| Three to four years  | 138           | 2             |
| Four to five years   | 14            | -             |
| Five years and above   | 9             | <u>-</u>      |
| Total gross payments   | 1,856         | 406           |

### Total cash outflows related to leases

Impact of finance expenses

Carrying amount of liability

|                                      | £ 000 | £ 000 |
|--------------------------------------|-------|-------|
| Principal elements of lease payments | 744   | 415   |
| Interest                             | 133   | 20    |
| Total cash outflow                   | 877   | 435   |

## Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

#### 24 Provisions

|  | Onerous<br>fixed build<br>contracts<br>£'000 | Closed sites M | Iaintenance<br>£'000 | Total provisions £'000 |
|--|--|----------------|----------------------|------------------------|
|  |  | T 000          | £ 000                |                        |
| At the beginning of the year (as previously presented) | 11,498                                       | -              | -                    | 11,498                 |
| Amounts reclassified from accruals (note 30)           |  | 2,134          | 1,885                | 4,019                  |
| At the beginning of the year (restated)                | 11,498                                       | 2,134          | 1,885                | 15,517                 |
| Charged to the income statement in the year            | 1,226  | 1,851          | 1,246                | 4,323                  |
| Utilised in the year                                   | (3,389)                                      | (1,243)        | (1,647)              | (6,279)                |
| At the end of the year                                 | 9,335  | 2,742          | 1,484                | 13,561                 |
| Analysis of total provisions:                          |  |                | 2022<br>£ 000        | 2021<br>£ 000          |
| Due within one year (restated – see note 30)           |  |                | 8,016                | 7,778                  |
| Due after one year                                     |  |                | 5,545                | 7,739                  |
| Total  |  | 7              | 13,561               | 15,517                 |

The closed sites provision consists of costs to complete on closed sites and the maintenance provision covers after care on completed homes. There is inherent uncertainty in assessing the values and timing of these provisions. They are reviewed regularly throughout the year by management.

#### 25 Contract balances

In relation to contracts in progress at the balance sheet date:

|                                | 2022    | 2021  |  |
|--------------------------------|---------|-------|--|
|                                | £ 000   | £ 000 |  |
| Net customer contract position | (1,433) | 461   |  |
| Total                          | (1,433) | 461   |  |

Revenue recognised for the year on open contracts amounts to £8,466k (2021: £18,033k). During the year costs of £8,102k (2021: £19,074k) have been recognised within costs of sales in respect of contract assets.

### 26 Called up share capital

### Allotted, called up and fully paid shares

|                            |             | 2022    |             | 2021    |
|----------------------------|-------------|---------|-------------|---------|
|                            | No.         | £ 000   | No.         | £ 000   |
| Ordinary shares of £1 each | 228,760,639 | 228,761 | 228,760,639 | 228,761 |

### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

### 27 Related party transactions

Tilia Homes Limited operates through several joint ventures with which it holds trading balances. Further details can be found in note 17.

Guy Hands, the ultimate controlling party of the Company, is a director and sole shareholder of Terra Firma Investments Limited. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company incurred advisory fees of £1,973k (2021: £136k) in respect of Terra Firma Investments Limited. £854k (2021: £136k) was outstanding at 30 June 2022.

The Company's immediate parent is Tilia Bidco Limited. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company accrued interest of £7,934k (2021: £676k) in respect of the loan payable to Tilia Bidco Limited. Both the principal loan amount of £133,560k (2021: £90,698k) and interest payable of £8,610k (2021: £676k) were outstanding at 30 June 2022. The loan expires in May 2026 and the interest rate is 8%.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company accrued interest of £86k (2021: £Nil) in respect of the RCF payable to Tilia Bidco Limited. Both the principal amount of £8,000k (2021: £Nil) and interest payable of £86k (2021: £Nil) were outstanding at 30 June 2022. The current RCF expires on 11 May 2024 and the interest rate is 8%.

During the year ended the Company was also charged expenses from Terra Firma Holdings Limited and Terra Firma Capital Partners Limited of £7k and £5k respectively. These amounts were not outstanding at 30 June 2022.

#### 28 Parent of group in whose consolidated financial statements the Company is consolidated

The Company is subsidiary undertaking of Tilia Bidco Limited, a company registered in Guernsey.

The largest company in which the results of the Company are consolidated is Tilia Group Holdings Limited, a company registered in Guernsey. The Tilia Group Holdings Limited financial statements are available via the website <a href="https://www.tiliahomes.co.uk">www.tiliahomes.co.uk</a>.

The directors consider the ultimate controlling party to be Guy Hands.

#### 29 Post balance sheet event

On 8 September 2022 and 4 October 2022, the Company received further loan funding of £2,125k and £14,459k respectively from its immediate parent Tilia Bidco Limited. On 16 August, 26 October and 17 November 2022, the Company received further RCF funding of £4,000k, £3,000k and £5,000k respectively from its immediate parent Tilia Bidco Limited. These are non-adjusting events and consequently there have been no changes made to the FY22 financial statements.

### Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

### 30 Prior year restatement

Cost and maintenance liabilities in relation to completed developments, previously included within accruals, have been reclassified as provisions within the FY21 comparative figures. This has resulted in a £4,019k increase to the FY21 provisions current balance (Statement of Financial Position) and a £4,019k decrease to the FY21 Trade and other payables current (accruals) balance (Statement of Financial Position). The below table illustrates the impact of this adjustment on the financial statements.

|   | Prior year |             |                 |
|---|------------|-------------|-----------------|
|   | 2021       | restatement | 2021 (restated) |
|   | £ 000      | £ 000       | £ 000           |
| <b>Statement of Financial Position</b>      |            |             |                 |
| Provisions current                          | (3,759)    | (4,019)     | (7,778)         |
| Trade and other payables current (accruals) | (107,726)  | 4,019       | (103,707)       |

The FY21 loans and borrowings balance has been restated from non-current to current (Statement of Financial Position). The below table illustrates the impact of this adjustment on the financial statements.

|                                  | Prior year |             |                 |
|----------------------------------|------------|-------------|-----------------|
|                                  | 2021       | restatement | 2021 (restated) |
| Caracana CE's and LD 2'd'an      | £ 000      | £ 000       | £ 000           |
| Statement of Financial Position  |            |             |                 |
| Loans and borrowings current     | -          | (90,698)    | (90,698)        |
| Loans and borrowings non-current | (90,698)   | 90,698      | -               |